

Annual Review of Psychology

What Gets Shared, and Why? Interpersonal Communication and Word of Mouth

Jonah Berger

Marketing Department, The Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA; email: jberger@wharton.upenn.edu

Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2025. 76:5.1-5.23

The *Annual Review of Psychology* is online at psych.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-013024-031524

Copyright © 2025 by the author(s). All rights reserved

Keywords

interpersonal communication, word of mouth, social influence, social transmission, social media

Abstract

Interpersonal communication is an integral part of everyday life. People are constantly sharing thoughts, opinions, and information with others, both online and offline. Further, such social sharing has important implications for what people think, buy, and do. However, while it is clear that interpersonal communication is both frequent and important, research is only starting to understand what people share and why. This article reviews the literature on interpersonal communication and word of mouth, focusing on the drivers of social transmission and the implications for individuals and society at large. It discusses how factors like audiences, modalities (e.g., speaking or writing), channels (e.g., email or text), and devices (e.g., phone or PC) moderate what gets shared, and it outlines areas that deserve further attention. Such areas include the diffusion of false information, conversations and conversational dynamics, and how automated textual analysis can be used to shed light on a range of interesting questions.

ARjats.cls

Contents	
INTRODUCTION	5.2
WHAT GETS SHARED AND WHY	5.3
Impression Management	5.3
How Impression Management Shapes What Gets Shared	5.4
Accessibility	5.7
How Accessibility Shapes What Gets Shared	5.7
Emotion Regulation	5.8
How Emotion Regulation Shapes What Gest Shared	5.9
Information Acquisition	
How Information Acquisition Shapes What Gets Shared	.11
Social Bonding	.11
How Social Bonding Shapes What Gets Shared	.12
Persuasion	
How Persuasion Shapes What Gets Shared	.13
MODERATING ROLE OF THE COMMUNICATION AUDIENCE	
Tie Strength 5.	
Audience Size	
MODERATING ROLE OF COMMUNICATION MEDIUMS	
Communication Modality	
Communication Device	
Communication Channel	.15
AREAS OF OPPORTUNITY AND DIRECTIONS	
FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	
Sharing False Information	
Conversational Dynamics	
The Role of Automated Textual Analysis	
CONCLUSION5	.18

INTRODUCTION

Interpersonal communication is an integral part of everyday life. People share thoughts and opinions, forward news articles and rumors, and pass along other content they find interesting or relevant. Consumers talk about products they love, services they hate, and experiences they're looking forward to, and employees share information, relate gossip, and pass along advice. Indeed, research suggests that the average person spends 50-80% of their day engaged in some form of interpersonal communication (Klemmer & Snyder 1972).

Technological shifts have made such sharing even faster and easier. Rather than talking to a neighbor over a back fence, or calling a friend to catch up, thanks to the Internet, social media, and smartphones, people can now quickly and easily share things with hundreds, thousands, or even millions of people. There are billions of online reviews, for example, and over 20 billion texts are sent each day (Giacomini 2021).

Such social sharing has a huge impact. People tend to follow what others say and do (Cialdini & Goldstein 2004, Dichter 1966). Online reviews, for example, drive purchasing decisions (see Babic Rosario et al. 2016 for a review), offline word of mouth boosts sales (Godes & Mayzlin 2009), and communication between physicians speeds the adoption and diffusion of new pharmaceutical drugs (Iyengar et al. 2010).

However, while it is clear that interpersonal communication is both frequent and important, research has barely begun to identify what people talk about and share, why, and the consequences for attitudes, judgments, decision making, and action.

This article reviews the literature on interpersonal communication, word of mouth, and information transmission, focusing on the drivers of social transmission and the implications for individuals and society at large. First, we review the literature on what people share and why, outlining the social, cognitive, and motivational factors that underlie social transmission. Second, we examine how factors like the communication audience, modality (e.g., speaking or writing), channel (e.g., email or text), and communication device (e.g., phone or PC) moderate what gets shared. Finally, we outline areas that deserve further attention, including the diffusion of false information, conversations and conversational dynamics, and how automated textual analysis can be used to shed light on a range of interesting questions.

While our goal is to be comprehensive, given the amount and breadth of research in this space across disciplines (e.g., psychology, sociology, marketing, and management), it is impossible to cover every single article. Consequently, we focus on some of the main themes and areas of research, providing a broad sense of research in this space.

WHAT GETS SHARED AND WHY

Some of the key social, cognitive, or motivational factors driving sharing include (a) impression management, (b) accessibility, (c) emotion regulation, (d) information acquisition, (e) social bonding, and (f) persuasion. We discuss these factors below, indicating how each of them, in turn, shapes the types of things that get talked about and shared.

Impression Management

One driver of what people talk about and share is impression management. People care about how others perceive them (Goffman 1959, Leary & Kowalski 1990) and make choices that allow them to communicate desired identities and to avoid communicating undesired ones (Belk 1988; Berger & Heath 2007, 2008; Levy 1959). People might buy a certain car, for example, to seem high status, support certain political issues based on the parties they are associated with (Cohen 2003), or avoid adopting certain products because of the other people who buy them (Berger & Heath 2007, 2008; Berger & Ward 2010).

Beyond what people drive or what they wear, though, what they talk about and share also shapes how they are perceived. The simplest way impression management shapes word of mouth is through self-enhancement. People want to feel good about themselves and maintain positive self-esteem. Further, they want to gain social acceptance (Chen 2017) and be perceived positively by others. Consequently, people tend to talk about and share things that make them look good rather than bad, and the better something makes people look, the more likely they are to share it (Berger 2013, 2014; Chung & Darke 2006; Hennig-Thurau et al. 2004).

Beyond generally looking good, though, people also want to communicate specific identities. If someone regularly posts about hot, new restaurants, others may assume they are a foodie. Similarly,

¹In many cases the psychological drivers behind sharing any one piece of content are multiply determined. For example, someone may talk about the dinner they are last night because it makes them look good, because it is top of mind, or because of the emotions they have associated with it.

if someone always knows the scoop on the newest technology goods, people will assume they know a lot about that. Consequently, individuals may talk about and share things not only to self-enhance but also to signal specific desired characteristics, knowledge, or expertise (Packard & Wooten 2013).

Note that while impression management can certainly be social in nature, this motive may also be driven by the desire to see oneself in a particular light. Someone may share something positive, for example, because they want to see themselves as a positive person or talk about new restaurants because they want to feel like they are a foodie.

How Impression Management Shapes What Gets Shared

The desire to look good and signal particular characteristics has a variety of implications for what people talk about and share. Specifically, it shapes the sharing of things that are engaging, scarce, exclusive, high-status, useful, or self-concept-relevant; the sharing of things that facilitate social interaction; and the valence of discussion.

Engaging things. Impression management leads people to share things that are more engaging (i.e., interesting, funny, surprising, or extreme) or novel. Not only are such things entertaining and interesting for the recipients but also they should make the sharer seem more interesting, funny, knowledgeable, or in-the-know, all of which should foster desired impressions.

Consistent with this notion, a great deal of research finds that engaging and novel things are more likely to be shared. Work on the transmission of news articles, for example, finds that more interesting or surprising articles are more likely to make the New York Times most emailed list (Berger & Milkman 2012). Similarly, people report greater willingness to share more interesting or surprising urban legends (Heath et al. 2001), and moderate controversy boosts word of mouth because it makes conversation more interesting (Chen & Berger 2013). Further, research on consumer behavior finds that interesting products often get talked about more (Berger & Iyengar 2013, Berger & Schwartz 2011), consumers report being more likely to share word of mouth about more original products (Moldovan et al. 2011), and novelty plays a role in the diffusion of false news (Vosoughi et al. 2018).

Work on content extremity is also consistent with this notion. Compared to regular, more normative stories (e.g., Tim caught a 10-pound fish or went on a 5-mile hike), people are more likely to pass on extreme narratives (e.g., Tim caught a 200-pound fish or went on a 50-mile hike) (Heath & DeVoe 2005), in part because they are more interesting. Impression management concerns also lead people to change the stories they tell to make them more engaging. Over 50% of stories are distorted in one way or another (Marsh & Tversky 2004), and entertainment motives lead people to exaggerate and make stories more extreme (Burrus et al. 2006).

Scarce, exclusive, or high-status things. Beyond engaging content, impression management also leads people to talk about things that signal status. Talking about hidden bars, limited edition products, or hot new technologies shows knowledge and gives sharers social currency or status in the eyes of others (Berger 2013, Goor et al. 2020). Status is only good if other people know that you have it, though, so people are more likely to talk about things that give them status as a way to claim this social currency.

Talking about flying business class, owning a Porsche, or having an au pair, for example, should make sharers seem wealthy and high status. Consistent with this notion, there is some evidence that premium brands are talked about more (Lovett et al. 2013). Similarly, talking about owning a limited-edition pair of sneakers, getting access to an invite-only app, or having other scarce or exclusive things should make people seem wealthy or high status. Information can also connote

ARjats.cls

status, and people may share knowledge to show they are in-the-know (Ritson & Elliott 1999). Being one of the first people to post about a new music artist or report on a new restaurant opening, or even being the first to comment on a YouTube video, lets people show others that they are ahead of the curve. Along these lines, impression management may also lead people to talk about things that are special or unique. Talking about a special vacation, a customized item, or a distinctive experience should make people seem more unique and differentiated from others.

However, while one might assume that people with higher needs for uniqueness might be more likely to talk about unique things, reality is more complex. While talking about unique things does signal uniqueness, it can also encourage others to adopt those things, which makes them less unique. Consequently, people with high needs for uniqueness are less likely to share things in ways that make them accessible to others. Individuals with high need for uniqueness are less willing to generate positive word of mouth for things they own that are consumed publicly (Cheema & Kaikati 2010), and early adopters with high needs for uniqueness often "share and scare," sharing favorable word of mouth while simultaneously mentioning how complex something is to use (Moldovan et al. 2015).

Useful things. Impression management also encourages people to share useful information (e.g., discounts, advice, or better-living tips) because it makes sharers seem knowledgeable and helpful. Information about the best sunscreens, for example, tips to save on car insurance, or suggestions about ways to reduce stress help others save money and time and help them live happier and healthier lives.

Along these lines, work on rumors, folk tales, and urban legends has long argued that people share not only to entertain, but "to convey true, worthwhile and relevant information" (Brunvand 1981, p. 11; see also Allport & Postman 1947, Rosnow 1980). When vaccines were tough to come by during the COVID-19 pandemic, for example, people shared rumors about where shots were available, which helped others gain access.

Similarly, empirical work demonstrates that usefulness increases sharing. Research on the virality of New York Times articles (Berger & Milkman 2012), the diffusion of urban legends (Heath et al. 2001), and the sharing of marketing messages (Chiu et al. 2007) finds that more useful content is more likely to be shared. Restaurant reviews, for example, or travel tips are particularly likely to make the New York Times most emailed list. The notion of usefulness may also help explain why higher-quality brands are more likely to be discussed (Lovett et al. 2013).

Self-concept-relevant things. Beyond sharing things that make them look generally good, impression management also encourages sharing things that construct and communicate desired identities. Someone who wants to seem like a foodie, for example, may talk more about new restaurants, while someone who wants to seem like an athlete may talk a lot about sports gear or races

A great deal of research (e.g., Belk 1988; Berger & Heath 2007, 2008; Shavitt 1990) demonstrates that certain domains of life (e.g., cars, clothes, music, and hairstyles) are more symbolic of identity than others (e.g., laundry detergent or Internet service providers). Consequently, choices and attitudes in these symbolic domains are more often used as markers or signals of identity. People tend to infer more about who someone is from their car choice, for example, than from where they get their Internet service. That said, there are also individual differences in identity relevance. While most people do not see their Internet service provider as a signal of who they are, gamers, or people who care a lot about technology, may find it more self-relevant.

Such variations in self-concept relevance, in turn, should impact what people talk about and share. People tend to talk more about symbolic products than about more utilitarian ones (Chung & Darke 2006), for example, and the bigger the difference between someone's actual and ideal knowledge in a particular domain, the more likely they are to talk about it (Packard & Wooten 2013). This suggests that people talk not only to signal who they are, or how they see themselves, but also who they would like to be (i.e., ideal selves or aspiration groups).

Things that facilitate social interactions. Given that impression management is inherently social, looking good isn't just about what one shares but also about how that interacts with whom (i.e., the audience) they are sharing with. Talking about an expensive ski vacation could make sharers look good, for example, but if their conversation partner does not care about skiing, or finds the topic boring, it will not have as positive an impact. Consequently, what people share to look good also depends on the audience.

One place this shows up is in talking about things that are common ground or that sharers have in common with others (Clark 1996, Grice 1989) (see the section titled Social Bonding for a more in-depth discussion). A ski vacation, for example, would be common ground if the audience find that topic of interest but not if they don't. Talking about things that are common ground should lead the conversation to go more smoothly, make audiences think sharers are more similar to them, and lead to more positive social inferences about sharers as a result.

Beyond what people talk about, or the content of their communication, people also infer things about others based on the way they talk about those things, or their conversational style. How quickly someone talks, for example, or how long they take to respond, can both communicate things about the communicator (Loewenstein et al. 2005, Tannen 2005). If someone takes too long to respond to what someone else says, for example, others may infer that they are not a very good conversationalist or do not have very much to say (Sacks et al. 1974). Indeed, recent research on response time finds that faster response time in conversations can signal social connection (Templeton et al. 2022).

Consequently, conversation partners often have a motive to fill conversational space—to talk about anything, even if it is not the most exciting, rather than sitting in silence.

Positive or negative things. Impression management should also influence the valence of what gets discussed, or whether people talk about positive things (e.g., getting a good grade on a test) or negative ones (e.g., failing a test).

Some work suggests that talking about positive things should be more likely to generate favorable impressions. Talking about positive experiences can suggest sharers have expertise or make good choices (e.g., the movie I picked was good; Wojnicki & Godes 2011). Similarly, most people would prefer positive to negative news and prefer interacting with positive others (Bell 1978, Kamins et al. 1997), so people may talk about positive things to avoid seeming like a negative person or a "Debbie Downer." Consistent with this notion, people are reluctant to share negative news (see Tesser & Rosen 1975 for a review), and more positive articles are more likely to make the New York Times' most emailed list (Berger & Milkman 2012). One reason may be that sharing is a reflection of self, so people assume that sharing positive things will make them look better than negative ones. Impression management may also help explain why positive reviews greatly outnumber negative ones (Chevalier & Mayzlin 2006).

Other work, however, suggests that talking about negative things can sometimes facilitate desired impressions. People were seen as more competent and intelligent, for example, when they wrote negative (rather than positive) reviews (Amabile 1983). Along these lines, one could argue that being critical showcases someone has enough expertise in a domain to parse small differences.

One way to integrate these seemingly opposing findings might be to consider whether the thing being discussed signals something about the communicator. When someone talks about a movie they picked, for example, whether it is good or bad reflects back on them. If it was great, it makes them look knowledgeable, but if it was terrible, it reflects badly on their expertise. Consequently,

when talking about something they selected, people may tend to talk more about positive things rather than negative ones to show that they make good choices.

When talking about things they are less personally invested in, however, or had nothing to do with choosing, whether that thing is good or bad signals less about the sharer. Consequently, people may be more willing to talk negatively to show they have discriminating taste. Consistent with this, research finds that whether people are talking about themselves versus others moderates the valence of word of mouth (De Angelis et al. 2012). People generate positive word of mouth when talking about their own experiences, for example (because it makes them look good), but share negative word of mouth when talking about others' experiences (because it makes them look better by comparison).² This may also explain why people are especially likely to share moral outrage on social media (Brady et al. 2017).

Accessibility

Another factor that shapes what people talk about and share is accessibility. Accessibility refers to how easily things can be retrieved from memory (Higgins & King 1981, Wyer & Srull 1981). Recent experiences or stimuli tend to be more accessible, or more easily retrieved; things become less top of mind as more time passes. If someone just ate dinner, for example, what they ate, or whom they ate with, is probably relatively accessible. What they ate last week, though, is probably less top of mind (Higgins et al. 1977).

How Accessibility Shapes What Gets Shared

Accessibility impacts sharing in several ways. Specifically, it should encourage the sharing of things that are recent, frequent, triggered by the environment, or publicly visible.

Recent. People may tend to talk about things that happened recently, for example, because those things are top of mind. Indeed, whether looking at what people share on social media or at what they talk about offline, over 40% of what is discussed are things happening right now (Weingarten & Berger 2024). Another 25–35% are things that either just happened or are about to happen (i.e., less than a day away).3

Frequent. In addition to recency, frequency also plays a role. Stimuli that are encountered more frequently should tend to be more chronically accessible and thus more likely to be discussed (Berger & Schwartz 2011). Indeed, beyond impression management, one reason people may be more likely to talk about self-relevant things is that they think about them more often.

Primed. Beyond recency and frequency, stimuli in the environment can act as cues or triggers, activating conceptually related memories and making them more accessible (Berger & Heath 2005, Collins & Loftus 1975). Orange-related products are more top of mind around Halloween

²Note that impression management may also lead incidental arousal to encourage sharing. Incidental arousal (e.g., running in place) can boost the sharing of even unrelated content (Berger 2011). Similarly, work on rumor transmission suggests that rumors flourish in times of crisis, conflict, and catastrophe (e.g., natural disasters), due to the generalized arousal those situations evoke (Koenig 1985). One potential reason may be self-enhancement. If people misattribute a general feeling of arousal to content they are considering sharing, they may come to infer that this content is more interesting, entertaining, or engaging, which may increase transmission.

³Accessibility may also explain why people tend to talk about more temporally distant things when talking about the future (Weingarten & Berger 2024). While temporally near things tend to be more accessible, goals and plans are more likely to remain active when they are in the future, which shapes what gets discussed.

(Berger & Fitzsimons 2008), for example, and if someone says "peanut butter and..." it might make others think of "jelly" (at least in cultures where peanut butter and jelly is a common type of sandwich).

Consequently, products, services, and ideas that are cued or triggered more frequently by the surrounding environment are more likely to be discussed (Berger & Schwartz 2011). Discussions about coffee, for example, are often driven by related cues (e.g., talking about food or seeing an advertisement). Similarly, referrals often occur when related topics are being discussed (Brown & Reingen 1987). Accessibility also helps explain why things that are advertised more tend to receive more discussion (Onishi & Manchanda 2012). More frequent advertising, or any types of reminders, should make things more top of mind and thus more likely to be talked about.

Publicly visible. Accessibility may also explain why things that are publicly visible (i.e., easy to see) are talked about more (Berger & Schwartz 2011, Lovett et al. 2013). It is relatively easy to see what shirt someone is wearing, but it is harder to observe their socks. Similarly, someone's phone is relatively public, but their political views are harder to observe. Increased visibility should make products and ideas more accessible, which in turn should make them more likely to be discussed.

Emotion Regulation

Another key driver of what gets talked about and shared is emotion regulation (Gross 1998, 2008). External factors (e.g., a team losing or fighting with a spouse) can impact the emotions people experience, and emotion regulation describes the processes through which people manage that emotional experience. If one's favorite team loses, for example, they may try to reduce their frustration by thinking about how things will be better next season.

While some approaches consider the self in isolation (e.g., Park & Folkman 1997), other approaches note that others aid coping (Monnier et al. 1998). These perspectives highlight that the social sharing of emotion (see Rimé 2009 for a review) provides an important channel for regulation. If a team just lost, for example, calling a friend to complain and commiserate may help one feel better.

Talking and sharing with others should help people manage their emotions in various ways, including by (a) generating social support, (b) venting, (c) facilitating sense making, (d) reducing dissonance, (e) taking vengeance, and (f) encouraging rehearsal. I review each component individually and then discuss how they affect what people share.

First, sharing should help generate social support. Talking to others can provide comfort and consolation (Rimé 2007, 2009), which may help buffer unpleasant feelings arising from negative emotional experiences. Schachter (1959), for example, found that people who were anxious about receiving an electric shock preferred to wait with others, potentially because they provided emotional support. Similarly, more recent work finds that sharing with others after a negative emotional experience can boost well-being because it increases feelings of social support (Buechel & Berger 2012).

Second, sharing facilitates emotion regulation by allowing people to vent (Hennig-Thurau et al. 2004, Sundaram et al. 1998; but see Rimé 2009). Teams lose, efforts fail, and work can be frustrating: Talking with others can help people deal with such negative experiences, providing catharsis that can decrease their emotional impact (Pennebaker 1999, Pennebaker et al. 2001). Angry (Wetzer et al. 2007) or dissatisfied (Anderson 1998) customers share word of mouth to vent, for example; most people believe that sharing emotional experiences will provide relief (Zech 1999); and one reason people share negative personal experiences is the desire for catharsis (Alicke et al. 1992).

Third, sharing should facilitate sense making, or help people make sense of their emotional experiences (Rimé 2009). Emotional reactions are not always straightforward. Even if someone who gets fired clearly feels bad, they may not be sure whether that negative feeling is anger, sadness, anxiety, or a mix. Alternatively, someone may feel an emotion like anxiety without being sure why. Interpersonal communication can help resolve such uncertainty (Rimé et al. 1991, Rosnow 1980). Explaining how one feels requires clear and thoughtful articulation, which can generate cognitive reappraisal and sense making (i.e., cognitive emotion regulation; Gross & John 2003). This, in turn, can encourage recovery and long-term well-being (Pennebaker et al. 2001).

Fourth, interpersonal communication can reduce dissonance. Sharing may help people cope with experiences that challenge their worldview (Festinger et al. 1956) or may just confirm their own judgment (Dichter 1966). Decision-makers are often uncertain about whether they made the right choice, so talking to others can reduce feelings of doubt (Engel et al. 1993).

Fifth, interpersonal communication can allow people to take vengeance and punish others for their negative experiences (Hennig-Thurau et al. 2004, Richins 1983, Sundaram et al. 1998). Someone who has a terrible hotel experience, for example, may post a scathing review in the hopes that it will dissuade others from staying there. Indeed, frustrated, angry, or otherwise dissatisfied customers are more likely to share negative word of mouth to take revenge (Anderson 1998).

While most of the aspects discussed above focus on negative emotional experiences, note that sharing may also allow people to relive and rehearse positive experiences (Hennig-Thurau et al. 2004, Rimé 2009). Word of mouth, for example, can be seen as "verbal consumption," allowing sharers to "relive the pleasure the speaker has obtained" (Dichter 1966, p. 149). Talking about an amazing Parisian vacation, or a relaxing massage, should allow people to ruminate on and savor some of the pleasurable feelings they had during those experiences. Indeed, communicating about positive events to others enhanced positive affect, even above and beyond the affect associated with the experiences itself (Gable et al. 2004).

How Emotion Regulation Shapes What Gest Shared

Taken together, these underlying drivers have important implications for the type of things that get shared. Specifically, they should encourage the sharing of more emotional things, highly positive or negative things, things that evoke arousal, and things that evoke specific emotions.

Emotionality. More emotional things are more likely to be talked about and shared. The large literature on the social sharing of emotion (see Rimé 2009 for a review), for example, argues that people share up to 90% of their emotional experiences with others (Rimé et al. 1992). Experimental evidence is also consistent with this perspective. News is more likely to be shared, for example, and movies are more likely to be talked about, if they are higher in emotional intensity (Berger & Milkman 2012, Luminet et al. 2000). Similarly, people are more willing to share more emotional anecdotes (Peters et al. 2009); forward emails with higher hedonic value (Chiu et al. 2007); and retell urban legends that evoke greater disgust, interest, surprise, joy, or contempt (Heath et al. 2001). Customers who feel more strongly (i.e., are either highly satisfied or highly dissatisfied) are also more likely to share via word of mouth (Anderson 1998, Richins 1983).⁴

⁴It is worth noting that culture plays an important role in emotional expression. While European Americans value being excited, for example, East Asians tend to value being calm (see Tsai 2007 for a review). These differences also impact what people talk about and share. When talking about relationships, for instance, European American couples express high-arousal positive emotions more than Chinese Americans (Tsai et al. 2006). Thus, which emotions people feel comfortable talking about may vary cross-culturally.

Valence. Similar to impression management, emotion regulation also impacts the positivity or negativity of what gets shared. People often share negative things to help themselves feel better. Indeed, most of the ways emotional regulation shapes sharing focus on negative experiences (i.e., venting, social support, vengeance, dissonance reduction, and sense making; Berger 2014). Consequently, one could argue that emotion regulation encourages sharing of negative experiences, thoughts, and feelings. Voters might share an angry political rant, for example, or talk negatively about an opposing politician, to vent or reduce dissonance about that party being in power.

That said, emotion regulation may also encourage the sharing of positive things (e.g., Gable & Reis 2010). When something good happens, the first thing most people want to do is tell others. Getting promoted or winning an award is exciting, and sharing the news with others allows people to reconsume the positive affect.

Consequently, whether emotional regulation encourages positive or negative things to be talked about may depends on the reasons for sharing. Both highly positive and negative things may be more likely to be shared, and middling affective experiences (e.g., just slightly good or bad) may be the only ones that do not get a boost.

Other factors may also inhibit the sharing of negativity. As discussed in the section on impression management, people may avoid sharing negative things to avoid seeming like a negative person. Posting negative content can lead people to be liked less (Forest & Wood 2012), and sharing negative things can also be uncomfortable, which can decrease sharing (Chen & Berger 2013). Similarly, financially constrained consumers are less likely to talk about things they have bought because they believe it will remind them of their negative feelings about their limited financial situation (Paley et al. 2018).

Arousal. Emotionally arousing things are also more likely to be shared. Different specific emotions are associated with different levels of physiological arousal or activation (i.e., increased heart rate; Heilman 1997). Sadness and anxiety are both negative emotional states, for example, but while sadness is relatively low arousal, anxiety is associated with greater arousal or activation (Christie & Friedman 2004).

Arousal increases sharing (Berger 2011). News that evokes more high-arousal emotions (e.g., awe, anger, or anxiety) is more likely to be shared and go viral, while news that evokes more lowarousal emotions (e.g., sadness) is less likely to be shared (Berger & Milkman 2012). Indeed, one reason false news may be shared more than true news is that it tends to evoke more high-arousal emotions like surprise and disgust (Vosoughi et al. 2018), and one reason outgroup animosity may drive engagement on social media is because it evokes more anger (Rathje et al. 2021). Advertisements that elicit more emotional engagement (i.e., biometric responses like skin conductance), or high-arousal emotions like disgust, receive more buzz (McDuff & Berger 2021, Siefert et al. 2009), and future experiences tend to be more affectively arousing than equivalent past ones, which can encourage discussion (Weingarten & Berger 2017). Even incidental arousal (i.e., running in place) can be enough to boost the sharing of content (Berger 2011).

On the negative side, high-arousal emotions (e.g., anxiety or anger) should increase the need to vent, resolve the situations, or decrease arousal. On the positive side, high-arousal emotions (e.g., excitement or amusement) should increase desires for rehearsal, or maintaining the positive feelings. Indeed, Teeny et al. (2019) suggest that sharing is an arousal management strategy. They find that people engage in positive word of mouth to maintain or increase energetic arousal, while engaging in negative word of mouth to reduce or eliminate tense arousal.

Specific emotions. Beyond the degree to which they are associated with physiological arousal, other features of specific emotions may also impact sharing. People may be less likely to talk about things that evoke shame and guilt, for example, because it makes them look bad (Finkenauer &

Rime 1998). While increased emotion may often boost sharing, extremely strong emotions (e.g., high levels of fear) may decrease it if they shock people too much to act. Some work also suggests that contentious political content is more likely to be retweeted if they use moral emotional language (Brady et al. 2017).

Information Acquisition

ARjats.cls

Sharing is also driven by information acquisition. When trying to figure out what to buy, how to resolve a problem at the office, or how to solve a tough interpersonal dilemma, people often turn to others to gather information and insight.

Sometimes this occurs in the context of advice seeking (Dichter 1966, Hennig-Thurau et al. 2004, Rimé 2009): Where should I go on vacation? Should I take that new job? People often talk to peers to get assistance—for recommendations, suggestions about what to do, or even just an outside perspective (Fitzsimons & Lehmann 2004).

Consistent with this notion, some work argues that one of gossip's key functions is to help people learn (Baumeister et al. 2004). While one could collect information through trial and error (e.g., trying several vacation destinations) or observing what others do (e.g., social proof), gossip is another way to acquire relevant information quickly and easily (Dunbar 1996).

Talking to others also helps people resolve problems (Sundaram et al. 1998). Products break, services fall short, and interpersonal issues arise. By discussing these and other similar problems with others, people can get useful information that helps them find a solution. Talking about broken sunglasses, for example, can help people learn about a more durable brand. Indeed, people often talk to others to help them solve health problems, and online reviews often serve a similar function (Hennig-Thurau et al. 2004).

How Information Acquisition Shapes What Gets Shared

Taken together, these underlying drivers have important implications for the type of things that get shared. Specifically, this motive encourages people to talk about decisions or situations where information is lacking.

In terms of decisions, people should be particularly likely to talk to others to acquire information when decisions are risky, important, complex, or uncertainty ridden. If someone is considering a completely new medication, for example, they may reach out to others who have used it to allay their concerns. Indeed, brands that involve more risk are talked about more (Lovett et al. 2013). Interpersonal communication can reduce risk perceptions, simplify complex ideas, and increase people's confidence that they are making the right decision (Engel et al. 1993, Hennig-Thurau & Walsh 2004).

The information environment itself should also shape when people talk to acquire information. If it is tough to find any information about a particular medication, for example, people will be more likely to reach out to others to find out more. Alternatively, if it is not clear whether available information is trustworthy (e.g., it came from the company or a biased source), people may also talk to peers.

Social Bonding

People also talk and share to generate and deepen social bonds (Berger 2014, Rimé 2009). Some work argues that language evolved to facilitate social grooming (Dunbar 1996). While apes might have bonded through picking nits out of each other's hair, language provides an easier way to stay connected and keep tabs on others. Whether or not this is why language originally evolved, talking and sharing helps bond people together. Humans have a fundamental desire for social relationships 11:40

ARjats.cls

(Baumeister & Leary 1995), and communication helps fill that need (Hennig-Thurau et al. 2004). It reinforces that we care about others and what is happening in their lives (Wetzer et al. 2007). Consequently, interpersonal communication can act like a "social glue" bringing people together and strengthening social ties. Indeed, one reason people engage in brand communities (e.g., the Swifties or the BeyHive) is to connect with like-minded others.

Along these lines, the notion of phatic communication is used to describe conversations whose function is to "create social rapport rather than to convey information" (Rettie 2009, p. 1135). Empirical work suggests that almost 6 out of 10 text messages are phatic in nature, noting that the sender is thinking of the recipient (Rettie 2009).

One way sharing facilitates social bonds is though reinforcing shared views. Just as consumption can delineate group membership and allow people to connect with similar others, so does interpersonal communication. Talking to a colleague about a team you both like, or a social issue you are aligned on, should reinforce that you have things in common. Talking about popular ads, for example, gives teens a type of social currency that allows them to fit in with their peers and show they are in-the-know (Ritson & Elliott 1999).

Another way sharing deepens social bonds is through reducing feelings of loneliness or social exclusion. Loneliness (i.e., the undesirable feeling of social isolation) and social exclusion (i.e., feeling ostracized or rejected) should increase the desire for social connection (Lakin et al. 2008), which should, in turn, encourage people to reach out and communicate with others. Boredom may have similar effects. While it is not the same as loneliness, and is not a social deficit per se, it may lead people to reach out to others for entertainment or to fill time.

How Social Bonding Shapes What Gets Shared

The drive to bond with others should lead people to talk about things that are common ground or more emotional.

Common ground. People often talk about the weather, their kids (if they are parents), or how teaching is going (if they are academics), not because these are the most interesting topics to talk about, but because they are common ground (Grice 1989), or things that others can weigh in on. Consistent with this notion, even controlling for actual performance, more familiar athletes are talked about more (Fast et al. 2009), and talking about such common ground makes people feel more socially connected (Clark & Kashima 2007).

Emotionality. The desire to connect should also lead emotional things to be shared. Given emotional contagion, sharing emotional content increases the chance others will feel similarly. Telling a funny story, for example, makes both the sharer and the audience laugh. This emotional similarity increases group cohesiveness (Barsade & Gibson 2007) and synchronizes attention, cognition, and behavior to coordinate action.

Social bonding may also encourage and result from the sharing of emotion. Sharing emotion bonds people together (Peters & Kashima 2007), but feeling high-arousal emotions may also increase social bonding needs (Chan & Berger 2013). Consequently, high-arousal emotions may increase the desire to connect, which, in turn, may encourage communication to satisfy that need.

Persuasion

A final driver of why people talk and share is to persuade. Parents talk about a particular sport to encourage their kids to play, and colleagues talk about certain strategies to get others on board. Indeed, people report using interpersonal communication to shape everything, from others' health behaviors to their purchase decisions (Tucker & Mueller 2000).

ARjats.cls

How Persuasion Shapes What Gets Shared

Persuasion motives should encourage people to share more extreme content. Compared to more moderate information, extremely positive or negative information should be more likely to encourage people to take a desired action (Abelson 1995, Craig & Blankenship 2011).

Similarly, persuasion motives should also encourage the sharing of physiologically arousing (e.g., anger- or anxiety-inducing) content. Arousal is an excitatory state (Heilman 1997) that increases a broad range of actions, from helping (Gaertner & Dovidio 1977) to responding faster in negotiations. Given that "the primary role of autonomic changes that accompany emotion is to provide support for action" (Davidson 1993, p. 468), people may share arousing content to encourage others to take desired actions.

MODERATING ROLE OF THE COMMUNICATION AUDIENCE

Not surprisingly, whom people are talking to shapes what they talk about. People can communicate with friends, colleagues, neighbors, family members, acquaintances, and a variety of other audiences. Two key dimensions of communication audiences are (*a*) tie strength and (*b*) audience size.

Tie Strength

Research distinguishes between strong ties (i.e., people we know well, trust, and/or speak to often) and weak ties (i.e., acquaintances with whom we do not have as strong a connection) (Brown & Reingen 1987, Granovetter 1973). Close friends, family members, or colleagues would be considered strong ties, whereas someone we just met, or are nominally connected to online, would be considered a weak tie.

Tie strength impacts both the motivations to share and the type of content people pass on. Some research, for example, suggests that impression management concerns should be stronger with weaker ties. One's weak ties usually do not know them very well, so it may be more important to present oneself positively because that interaction will have a stronger impact on social judgment. Consistent with this notion, compared to friends, people prefer sharing self-enhancing topics with strangers (Chen 2017), they are less willing to talk about controversial topics with acquaintances (Chen & Berger 2013), and word of mouth tends to be more positive with weaker ties (Dubois et al. 2016). People should be less likely to share embarrassing or potentially damaging things (e.g., cheating on a test) with weak ties for similar reasons.

That said, while the impact of any one interaction is larger for weak ties, impression management may also occur with stronger ties because communicators care more about how that audience perceive them. People also impression-manage with strong ties (Tesser & Paulhus 1983), and some work suggests that people are more likely to present themselves positively to neighbors (who should be closer ties) than to strangers (Argo et al. 2006). Expected future interaction may also play a role. While people may impression-manage with weak ties they expect to interact with in the future, this should be less important with weak ties one does not expect to see again.

Tie strength should also moderate emotional regulation's role in sharing. Rather than just trying to self-enhance, for example, people share more emotionally connecting topics with friends to maintain existing ties (Chen 2017). One's strong ties also know that person better, and thus they may be more useful for generating social support (when bad things happen) or celebrating (when good things occur). Sense making and dissonance reduction may also be better served by stronger ties. Consistent with this notion, some research suggests that people share emotional experiences with close others or people they know well (Brown & Reingen 1987, Heath et al. 2001, Rimé 2009).

While people may share negative rants online to vent or take vengeance, note that this may be less about tie strength and more about audience size. While online followings tend to be weaker ties, the larger number of people that can be reached allows communicators to encourage quick responses and feel like they are having more impact.

Audience Size

Audience size also shapes sharing. Sometimes people communicate with a small audience (e.g., just one friend), while other times they communicate with a larger one (e.g., a group of friends). The former can be described as narrowcasting, while the latter can be described as broadcasting. Similar to tie strength, audience size should impact why people share and what they end up sharing.

Impression management concerns have a larger impact on sharing when people communicate with larger groups (Barasch & Berger 2014). When sharing with just one other person, people tend to be more focused on their audience, which encourages sharing things that audience might find interesting or useful. When sharing with a large group, however, people's natural egocentrism encourages them to be focused on themselves, which makes them more likely to share things that make them look good (e.g., less negative content).

Audience size should moderate whether and how people share to regulate emotion. Having a larger audience, for example, may encourage people to share to take vengeance. Similarly, the undirected nature of broadcasting on social media (i.e., simultaneously reaching out to many people at once) may be particularly useful when people are looking for social support (Buechel & Berger 2012). Rather than feeling like they are bothering someone, people can use status updates or other broadcast-type social channels to share their message with many people at once. This decreases the weight put on any one connection and increases the number of responses received, increasing perceived social support.

MODERATING ROLE OF COMMUNICATION MEDIUMS

Beyond whom people communicate with, the mediums they communicate through also shape sharing. People communicate in various ways. They talk face-to-face or over the phone, write emails or send text messages, and communicate using smartphones, PCs, and a variety of other devices. More specifically, people always communicate via a modality (e.g., speaking or writing), through a channel (e.g., face-to-face, text, or email), and sometimes with the aid of a device (e.g., smartphone, computer, or smartwatch). Each of these mediums, in turn, can impact what people talk about and share (Oba & Berger 2023).

Communication Modality

Communication often involves speaking or writing. Speaking involves producing words through one's voice, while writing involves producing text. Someone can tell their friend about a great vacation using their voice (e.g., face-to-face or over the phone), for example, or they can write that information down (e.g., in an email or text).

Beyond being a means to communicate, however, communication modality also shapes what people share. Speaking tends to lead communicators to produce more personal, social, selfdisclosing, and informal communication (Akinnaso 1982, Shen & Sengupta 2018), for example, while writing leads to communication that is more formal, detached, and complex (Akinnaso 1982, Horowitz & Newman 1964). Recent empirical work, for example, finds that writing reduces emotional expression because it involves more deliberation (Berger et al. 2022). Writing also leads people to talk about more interesting products and brands (Berger & Iyengar 2013).

These and other differences between speaking and writing are driven by differences in the processes by which these two types of content are produced, and by learned associations with

different modalities (Oba & Berger 2023). It takes longer to write something than to speak it (Akinnaso 1982), for example, and while it is easy to edit writing, it is tough to edit speech (unless one re-records a voicemail). These two factors give writers more time to construct and refine what to say, which can shape the content they produce. Similarly, while people often write to themselves, speech tends to be more social (Akinnaso 1982, Melumad 2023), and as a result, speaking puts communicators in a more interactive mindset, which encourages them to focus more on their audience.

Communication Device

The specific device communicators communicate through also shapes what they share (Oba & Berger 2023). Devices include things like smartphones, computers, tablets, and smartwatches, and they are the additional equipment through which communication is created or transmitted. Written communication always requires some sort of device, while speaking can involve a device (e.g., a phone) or not (i.e., face-to-face communication).

Early research in this space focused on how computers shape communication (e.g., Walther 1996), and more recent work has examined the effect of smartphones. Smartphones tend to encourage communication that is shorter, for example, less focused on specific details, more emotional, and more self-disclosing (Melumad et al. 2019), while personal computers tend to encourage communication that is more abstract, extreme, and reflective (Ransbotham et al. 2019).

These and other effects are driven by learned associations with the different devices and by how devices shape the process of content production (Oba & Berger 2023). While personal computers are often used for work (e.g., word processing), for example, smartphones are often used to connect with others and maintain social identities, so they have more social associations (Melumad & Pham 2020). These associations, in turn, shape communication. Similarly, smartphones' smaller screens and buttons make writing more effortful (Antoun et al. 2017), and smartphones' portable nature makes them more likely to be used in distracting contexts. Both aspects generally reduce the capacity for deliberation and, in turn, shape the nature of what communicators communicate.

Communication Channel

The specific channel communicators communicate through also shapes what they share. Communication channels (e.g., email, phone calls, and text) are the mediums through which content is sent to an audience. Some channels are linked to certain modalities (e.g., phone calls require speaking), while others occur across modalities and devices (e.g., one can voice-to-text or write emails, from either a smartphone or a PC).

Similar to modalities and devices, different communication channels have different effects (i.e., through their learned associations and the process of producing content through them). While texting is generally used in personal situations to communicate with stronger ties, for example, email is often used in work situations to communicate with weaker ones. As a result, communicators may deliberate more on what they send in an email, which shapes what gets shared.

Channels also vary in synchronicity, ephemerality, and social presence. When speaking face-to-face, for example, or over the phone, gaps between conversational turns tend to be relatively short. When using channels like email, however, gaps between turns tend to be much longer. This difference in synchronicity, in turn, gives communicators more time to construct and refine what to say (Berger & Iyengar 2013).

Channels can also make content more or less ephemeral (Barnea et al. 2023). When talking face-to-face or over Snapchat, for example, the communicated messages disappear as soon as they are delivered. In channels like emails or voice notes, in contrast, content is less ephemeral and can be repeatedly viewed. This, in turn, can shape the ability to deliberate on what was shared.

Finally, channel features also impact social presence (i.e., Short et al. 1976). When interacting face-to-face, communicators can see their audience, hear their voices, and read their body language, all of which should make the audience feel more present. This can be contrasted with phone calls (where the audience is restricted to a voice) or email (where cues to social presence are decreased even further). Decreased social presence should, in turn, make the audience less salient and thus decrease their impact on what is communicated.

These are only a few of the dimensions on which channels vary. Further, variation can even occur within the same broader channel. Sending a direct message on Facebook, for example, that only reaches a small number of people is different than posting a status update, which reaches a much larger audience. The latter can be described as undirected communication, and it is particularly valuable when people feel socially apprehensive (Buechel & Berger 2018). It allows them to simultaneously express themselves in front of a large audience without addressing anyone in particular, increasing the likelihood of potential response while also reducing concerns about bothering others.

AREAS OF OPPORTUNITY AND DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

While there has been increased interest in what people share and why, many interesting topics deserve further attention. These include (a) the sharing of false information, (b) conversational dynamics, and (c) the role of automated textual analysis.

Sharing False Information

The rise of digital sharing, social media, and fake news has drawn attention to why false information gets shared. Further, this question has clear implications for political discourse, the science of beliefs, and the role of science and truth in discourse more generally. Indeed, research on misinformation has explored a variety of factors associated with the sharing of false information such as the social media context, deliberation, and accuracy prompts (Bago et al. 2020, Ecker et al. 2022, Epstein et al. 2023, Lazer et al. 2018, Pennycook & Rand 2022).

That said, while aspects of these issues are certainly new, the sharing of false information is far from it. Decades of research on rumors, urban legends, and related phenomena (e.g., Allport & Postman 1947, Rosnow 1980, Rosnow & Fine 1976) have explored why people share false things. While not focused on digital sharing, this work has provided important insights that may be relevant for today's challenges.

One key question, then, is the degree to which sharing false things is unique. Are the drivers of why people share false things qualitatively different from the reason they share true things, for example, or do similar factors drive both? More emotional content, particularly content that evokes arousal, is more likely to be shared (Berger 2011, Berger & Milkman 2012). Given this, it is not completely surprising that highly shared false information often evokes high-arousal emotions (Vosoughi et al. 2018). Similarly, people often share things that make them look good or allow them to communicate desired identities. Consequently, it is not completely surprising that people often share false information that supports their political beliefs or allows them to signal things they care about.

Overall, future research might more directly examine whether previously identified drivers of sharing extend to false information or whether the drivers of sharing false information are unique.

Conversational Dynamics

Another area that deserves more attention is conversational dynamics. Most research on sharing has focused on sharing individual things: whether people share a certain piece of misinformation,

talk about a particular brand, or share a certain story. Though this work has provided important insights into why people share, sharing is often situated in larger conversations. Consequently, to truly understand why people share, it is important to understand the broader conversational dynamics in which sharing is situated.

Conversations are social interactions in which multiple individuals act in coordinated ways to reach a shared understanding (Clark & Schaefer 1989). These interactions involve sequential back-and-forth of utterances and responses (Reis & Patrick 1996), organized into individual speaker turns (Schegloff & Sacks 1973). People converse to seek and share information, manage impressions, and strengthen social bonds, among other reasons (e.g., Baumeister et al. 2004, Dunbar 1996).

Recent work has explored the consequences of conversation and misperceptions about them (e.g., Hirschi et al. 2023, Templeton et al. 2022), but there has been less attention to the nature of conversation itself. How do conversations start, and what types of things tend to be talked about first? How do conversations evolve, and how does what is being discussed at one point in time shape what is discussed next? What features lead discussion to last longer, and why? These are only a few examples of questions that deserve further attention.

One possibility is that people tend to start with more concrete topics and then move to more abstract ones. While it is hard to start a conversation with big, thorny, abstract ideas, discussing more specific examples of things that are happening may open up larger discussions about broader topics. Similarly, accessibility and relevance likely shape the evolution of conversation. Talking about one thing should make related topics and ideas more accessible, as well as more relevant to the conversation, and increase their probability of being talked about next.

The Role of Automated Textual Analysis

Beyond any specific research topic, automated textual analysis and natural language processing tools have made it easier to study a range of questions related to what gets shared and why. Shifts in technology have made it easier to capture the content of social sharing. Early work used tape recorders to naturally capture what people were saying (e.g., Mehl et al. 2001), but today, many interactions leave digital traces that can be used for further study. Social media posts and online conversations can be easily analyzed, and video calls can be recorded and automatically transcribed.

Further, the advent of new natural language processing tools has made it faster and easier to analyze large corpora of text (see Berger & Packard 2022, Berger et al. 2020a, Boyd & Pennebaker 2017, Boyd & Schwartz 2021 for recent reviews). Rather than relying on manual coding, which can be effortful, subjective, and difficult to scale, automated tools allow research to objectively (and quickly) extract a variety of features from language data. The Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count software (Boyd et al. 2022) is already quite well known among psychologists, but several other dictionaries exist that can help quantify various features (e.g., https://www.lexicalsuite.com/; see Berger et al. 2020b, Paetzold & Specia 2016), as can large language models such as ChatGPT.

Beyond such top-down approaches, more bottom up-approaches can also be helpful. Topic modeling (e.g., Blei et al. 2003), for example, extracts the main themes discussed, and embeddings (e.g., Mikolov et al. 2013) represent words, sentences, and even entire documents as points in a multidimensional space, providing a sense of semantic similarity, among other things.

These tools can make it easier to study social transmission. Automated textual analysis is particularly useful for analyzing field data. By measuring the potential drivers of sharing (e.g., the amount of emotion contained, or the arousal evoked in a social media post) and linking them to sharing, researchers can gain insight into what gets shared and why. These tools can also be used to analyze more traditional experiments. One can parse open-ended responses to measure

hypothesized mediators (e.g., Barasch & Berger 2014), dependent variables, or alternative explanations. Similarly, researchers studying conversations can extract features of what participants said and how they relate to conversation length (Boghrati & Berger 2023) and to what is said next.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, social sharing has been, and will continue to be, an integral part of being human. Changes in the devices used to share (e.g., smartphones) and the channels used to share through (e.g., social media) have made it faster and easier to quickly share things with larger, geographically dispersed audiences, but the fundamental motivations for sharing have remained similar. By better understanding what people share and why, we can shed light on interpersonal interactions, social transmission, and why things catch on more generally.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The author is not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

LITERATURE CITED

Abelson RP. 1995. Attitude extremity. In Attitude Strength: Antecedents and Consequences, ed. RE Petty, JA Krosnick, pp. 25–41. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum

Akinnaso FN. 1982. On differences between spoken and written language. Lang. Speech 25(2):97-125

Alicke M, Braun J, Glor J, Klotz ML, Magee J, et al. 1992. Complaining behavior in social interactions. *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bul.* 18(3):286–95

Allport G, Postman L. 1947. The Psychology of Rumor. New York: Henry Holt

Amabile T. 1983. Brilliant but cruel: perceptions of negative evaluators. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 19(2):146-56

Anderson E. 1998. Customer satisfaction and word of mouth. J. Serv. Res. 1(1):5-17

Antoun C, Couper MP, Conrad FG. 2017. Effects of mobile versus PC web on survey response quality. *Public Opin. Q.* 81(1):280–306

Argo J, White K, Dahl D. 2006. Social comparison theory and deception in the interpersonal exchange of consumption information. J. Consum. Res. 33(1):99–108

Babić Rosario A, Sotgiu F, De Valck K, Bijmolt THA. 2016. The effect of electronic word of mouth on sales: a meta-analytic review of platform, product, and metric factors. *J. Market. Res.* 53(3):297–318

Bago B, Rand D, Pennycook G. 2020. Fake news, fast and slow: Deliberation reduces belief in false (but not true) news headlines. *J. Exp. Psychol. Gen.* 149(8):1608–13

Barasch A, Berger J. 2014. Broadcasting and narrowcasting: how audience size affects what people share. J. Market. Res. 51(3):286–99

Barnea U, Meyer R, Nave G. 2023. The effects of content ephemerality on information processing. *J. Market. Res.* 60(4):750–66

Barsade S, Gibson D. 2007. Why does affect matter in organizations. Acad. Manag. Perspect. 21:36-59

Baumeister R, Leary M. 1995. The need to belong: desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. *Psychol. Bull.* 117:497–529

Baumeister R, Zhang L, Vohs K. 2004. Gossip as cultural learning. Rev. Gen. Psychol. 8:111-21

Belk RW. 1988. Possessions and the extended self. J. Consum. Res. 15(2):139-68

Bell P. 1978. Affective state, attraction, and affiliation: Misery loves happy company, too. *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 4:616–19

Berger J. 2011. Arousal increases social transmission of information. Psychol. Sci. 22(7):891–93

Berger J. 2013. Contagious: Why Things Catch On. New York: Simon & Schuster

Berger J. 2014. Word of mouth and interpersonal communication: a review and directions for future research. J. Consum. Psychol. 24(4):586–607 Berger J, Fitzsimons G. 2008. Dogs on the street, Pumas on your feet: how cues in the environment influence product evaluation and choice. J. Market. Res. 45(1):1-14

11:40

- Berger J, Heath C. 2005. Idea habitats: how the prevalence of environmental cues influences the success of ideas. Cogn. Sci. 29(2):195-221
- Berger J, Heath C. 2007. Where consumers diverge from others: identity-signaling and product domains. J. Consum. Res. 34(2):121-34
- Berger J, Heath C. 2008. Who drives divergence? Identity signaling, outgroup dissimilarity, and the abandonment of cultural tastes. 7. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 95(3):593-607
- Berger J, Humphreys A, Ludwig S, Moe W, Netzer O, Schweidel D. 2020a. Uniting the tribes: using text for marketing insight. J. Market. 84(1):1–25
- Berger J, Iyengar R. 2013. Communication channels and word of mouth: how the medium shapes the message. J. Consum. Res. 40(3):567-79
- Berger J, Milkman K. 2012. What makes online content viral. J. Market. 49(2):192-205
- Berger J, Packard G. 2022. Using natural language processing to understand people and culture. Am. Psychol. 77(4):525-37
- Berger J, Rocklage MD, Packard G. 2022. Expression modalities: how speaking versus writing shapes word of mouth. J. Consum. Res. 49(3):389-408
- Berger J, Schwartz E. 2011. What drives immediate and ongoing word-of-mouth. J. Market. Res. 48(5):869-80
- Berger J, Sherman G, Ungar L. 2020b. TextAnalyzer. http://textanalyzer.org
- Berger J, Ward M. 2010. Subtle signals of inconspicuous consumption. J. Consum. Res. 37(4):555-69
- Blei D, Ng A, Jordan M. 2003. Latent Dirichlet allocation. J. Mach. Learn. Res. 3:933-1022
- Boghrati R, Berger J. 2023. Quantifying cultural change: gender bias in music. 7. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 152(9):2591–
- Boyd RL, Ashokkumar A, Seraj S, Pennebaker JW. 2022. The Development and Psychometric Properties of LIWC-22. Austin, TX: Univ. Tex. Austin
- Boyd RL, Pennebaker J. 2017. Language-based personality: a new approach to personality in a digital world. Curr. Opin. Behav. Sci. 18:63-68
- Boyd RL, Schwartz A. 2021. Natural language analysis and the psychology of verbal behavior: the past, present, and future states of the field. 7. Lang. Soc. Psychol. 40(1):21-41
- Brady W, Wills J, Jost J, Tucker J, Bavel J. 2017. Emotion shapes the diffusion of moralized content in social networks. PNAS 114(28):7313-18
- Brown J, Reingen P. 1987. Social ties and word-of-mouth referral behavior. J. Consum. Res. 14(3):350-62
- Brunvand J. 1981. The Vanishing Hitchhiker: American Urban Legends and Their Meanings. New York: Norton
- Buechel E, Berger J. 2012. Facebook therapy: why people share self-relevant content online. Work. Pap., Univ. Miami, Coral Gables, FL
- Buechel E, Berger J. 2018. Microblogging and the value of undirected communication. 7. Consum. Psychol. 28(1):40-55
- Burrus J, Kruger J, Jurgens A. 2006. The truth never stands in the way of a good story: the distortion of stories in the service of entertainment. Work. Pap., Univ. Ill., Urbana-Champaign
- Chan C, Berger J. 2013. Arousal and social connection. Work. Pap., Wharton Sch., Univ. Pa., Philadelphia
- Cheema A, Kaikati A. 2010. The effect of need for uniqueness on word-of-mouth. 7. Market. Res. 47(3):553-63
- Chen Z. 2017. Social acceptance and word of mouth: how the motive to belong leads to divergent WOM with strangers and friends. 7. Consum. Res. 44(3):613-32
- Chen Z, Berger J. 2013. When, why, and how controversy causes conversation. 7. Consum. Res. 40(3):580–93
- Chevalier J, Mayzlin D. 2006. The effect of word of mouth on sales: online book reviews. 7. Market. Res.
- Chiu Y, Chiou J, Fang W, Lin Y, Wu M. 2007. Design, fabrication, and control of components in MEMS-based optical pickups. IEEE. Trans. Magn. 43(2):780-85
- Christie I, Friedman B. 2004. Autonomic specificity of discrete emotion and dimensions of affective space: a multivariate approach. Int. 7. Psychol. 51:143–53
- Chung C, Darke P. 2006. The consumer as advocate: self-relevance, culture, and word of mouth. Market. Lett. 17(4):269-79

Cialdini R, Goldstein N. 2004. Social influence: compliance and conformity. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 55:591-621

Clark A, Kashima Y. 2007. Stereotypes help people connect with others in the community: a situated functional analysis of the stereotype consistency bias in communication. 7. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 93:1028-39

Clark HH. 1996. Using Language. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press

Clark HH, Schaefer EF. 1989. Contributing to discourse. Cogn. Sci. 13(2):259-94

Cohen GL. 2003. Party over policy: the dominating impact of group influence on political beliefs. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 85(5):808-22

Collins A, Loftus E. 1975. A spreading-activation theory of semantic processing. Psychol. Rev. 82(6):407-28

Craig TY, Blankenship KL. 2011. Language and persuasion: Linguistic extremity influences message processing and behavioral intentions. J. Lang. Soc. Psychol. 30(3):290-310

Davidson R. 1993. Parsing affective space: perspectives from neuropsychology and psychophysiology. Neuropsychology 7(4):464-75

De Angelis M, Bonezzi A, Peluso A, Rucker D, Costabile M. 2012. On braggarts and gossips: a selfenhancement account of word-of-mouth generation and transmission. 7. Market. Res. 49(4):551-63

Dichter E. 1966. How word of mouth advertising works. Harv. Bus. Rev. 44:147-66

Dubois D, Bonezzi A, De Angelis M. 2016. Sharing with friends versus strangers: how interpersonal closeness influences word-of-mouth valence. J. Market. Res. 53(5):712–27

Dunbar R. 1996. Grooming, Gossip and the Evolution of Language. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univ. Press

Ecker UKH, Lewandowsky S, Cook J, Schmid P, Fazio LK, et al. 2022. The psychological drivers of misinformation belief and its resistance to correction. Nat. Rev. Psychol. 1(1):13-29

Engel J, Blackwell R, Miniard P. 1993. Consumer Behavior. Chicago: Dryden Press. 7th ed.

Epstein Z, Sirlin N, Arechar A, Pennycook G, Rand D. 2023. The social media context interferes with truth discernment. Sci. Adv. 9(9):eabo6169

Fast N, Heath C, Wu G. 2009. Common ground and cultural prominence: how conversation reinforces culture. Psychol. Sci. 20:904-11

Festinger L, Riecken H, Schachter S. 1956. When Prophecy Fails. New York: Harper & Row

Finkenauer C, Rime B. 1998. Socially shared emotional experiences versus emotional experiences kept secret: differential characteristics and consequences. J. Soc. Clin. Psychol. 17:295-318

Fitzsimons G, Lehmann D. 2004. Reactance to recommendations: when unsolicited advice yields contrary responses. Market. Sci. 23:82-94

Forest A, Wood J. 2012. When social networking is not working: Individuals with low self-esteem recognize but do not reap the benefits of self-disclosure on Facebook. Psychol. Sci. 23(3):295-302

Gable SL, Reis HT. 2010. Good news! Capitalizing on positive events in an interpersonal context. Adv. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 42:195-257

Gable SL, Reis HT, Impett E, Asher E. 2004. What do you do when things go right? The intrapersonal and interpersonal benefits of sharing positive events. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 87:228-45

Gaertner S, Dovidio J. 1977. The subtlety of white racism, arousal, and helping behavior. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 35:691-707

Giacomini A. 2021. The past, present and future of messaging. Forbes, Jan. 6

Godes D, Mayzlin D. 2009. Firm-created word-of-mouth communication: evidence from a field test. Market.

Goffman E. 1959. The Presentation of Self in Everyday Life. New York: Anchor

Goor D, Keinan A, Halevy N, Norton M. 2020. Hidden in plain sight: consumer response to pseudo-secrets in marketing. Adv. Consum. Res. 48:847-50

Granovetter M. 1973. The strength of weak ties. Am. 7. Soc. 78(6):1360-80

Grice P. 1989. Studies in the Way of Words. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univ. Press

Gross J. 1998. The emerging field of emotion regulation: an integrative review. Rev. Gen. Psychol. 2:271-99

Gross J. 2008. Emotion regulation. In Handbook of Emotions, ed. M Lewis, JM Haviland-Jones, LF Barrett, pp. 497–512. New York: Guilford

Gross J, John O. 2003. Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 85:348-62

Heath C, Bell C, Sternberg E. 2001. Emotional selection in memes: the case of urban legends. 7. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 81:1028-41

- Heath C, DeVoe S. 2005. Extreme comparisons: biased information flows and social comparison theory. Work. Pap., Stanford Univ., Stanford, CA
- Heilman K. 1997. The neurobiology of emotional experience. 7. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 9(3):439-48
- Hennig-Thurau T, Gwinner K, Walsh G, Gremler D. 2004. Electronic word-of-mouth via consumer-opinion platforms: what motivates consumers to articulate themselves on the Internet. J. Interact. Market. 18(1):38–52
- Hennig-Thurau T, Walsh G. 2004. Electronic word-of-mouth: consequences of and motives for reading customer articulations on the Internet. Int. J. Electron. Commer. 8(2):51–74
- Higgins E, Rholes W, Jones C. 1977. Category accessibility and impression formation. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 13(2):141–54
- Higgins T, King G. 1981. Accessibility of social constructs: information-processing consequences of individual and contextual variability. In *Personality, Cognition and Social Interaction*, ed. N Cantor, JF Kihlstrom, pp. 621–35. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum
- Hirschi Q, Wilson TD, Gilbert DT. 2023. Speak up! Mistaken beliefs about how much to talk in conversations. Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 49(10):1454–65
- Horowitz MW, Newman JB. 1964. Spoken and written expression: an experimental analysis. J. Abnorm. Soc. Psychol. 68(6):640–47
- Iyengar R, Van den Bulte C, Valente T. 2010. Opinion leadership and social contagion in new product diffusion. Market. Sci. 30(2):195–212
- Kamins M, Folkes V, Perner L. 1997. Consumer responses to rumors: good news, bad news. *J. Consum. Psychol.* 6(2):165–87
- Klemmer ET, Snyder FW. 1972. Measurement of time spent communicating. 7. Commun. 22(2):142-58
- Koenig F. 1985. Rumor in the Marketplace: The Social Psychology of Commercial Hearsay. Dover, MA: Auburn House
- Lakin J, Chartrand T, Arkin R. 2008. I am too just like you: nonconscious mimicry as an automatic behavioral response to social exclusion. *Psychol. Sci.* 19:816–22
- Lazer D, Baum MA, Benkler Y, Berinsky AJ, Greenhill KM, et al. 2018. The science of fake news. *Science* 9(6380):1094–96
- Leary MR, Kowalski RM. 1990. Impression management: a literature review and two-component model. Psychol. Bull. 107(1):34–47
- Levy S. 1959. Symbols for sale. Harv. Bus. Rev. 37(4):117-24
- Loewenstein J, Morris M, Chakravarti A, Thompson L, Kopelman S. 2005. At a loss for words: dominating the conversation and the outcome in negotiation as a function of intricate arguments and communication media. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 98:28–38
- Lovett M, Peres R, Shachar R. 2013. On brands and word of mouth. J. Market. Res. 50:427-44
- Luminet O, Bouts P, Delie F, Manstead A, Rime B. 2000. Social sharing of emotion following exposure to a negatively valenced situation. *Cogn. Emot.* 14:661–88
- Marsh E, Tversky B. 2004. Spinning the stories of our lives. Appl. Cogn. Psychol. 18:491-503
- McDuff D, Berger J. 2021. Why do some advertisements get shared more than others? Quantifying facial expressions to gain new insights. *J. Adv. Res.* 60(4):370–80
- Mehl M, Pennebaker J, Crow M, Dabbs J, Price J. 2001. The electronically activated recorder (EAR): a device for sampling naturalistic daily activities and conversations. *Behav. Res. Methods Instrum. Comput.* 33:517–23
- Melumad S. 2023. Vocalizing search: how voice-assisted search alters consumer search processes and satisfaction. *J. Consum. Res.* 50(3):533–53
- Melumad S, Inman JJ, Pham MT. 2019. Selectively emotional: how smartphone use changes user-generated content. *J. Market. Res.* 56(2):259–75
- Melumad S, Pham MT. 2020. The smartphone as a pacifying technology. J. Consum. Res. 47(2):237-55
- Mikolov T, Sutskever I, Chen K, Corrado G, Dean J. 2013. Distributed representations of words and phrases and their compositionality. In NIPS'13: Proceedings of the 26th International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems, pp. 3111–19. New York: ACM
- Moldovan S, Goldenberg J, Chattopadhyay A. 2011. The different roles of product originality and usefulness in generating word of mouth. *Int. J. Res. Market.* 28:109–19

- Moldovan S, Steinhart Y, Ofen S. 2015. "Share and scare": solving the communication dilemma of early adopters with a high need for uniqueness. J. Consum. Psychol. 25(1):1-14
- Monnier J, Hobfoll S, Dunahoo C, Hulsizer M, Johnson R. 1998. There's more than rugged individualism in coping. Part 2: construct validity and further model testing. Anxiety Stress Coping 11(3):247-72
- Oba D, Berger J. 2023. How communication mediums shape the message. J. Consum. Psychol. In press. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jcpy.1372
- Onishi H, Manchanda P. 2012. Marketing activity, blogging and sales. Int. J. Res. Market. 29:221-34
- Packard G, Wooten D. 2013. Compensatory knowledge signaling in word-of-mouth. J. Consum. Psychol. 23(4):434-50
- Paetzold G, Specia L. 2016. Inferring psycholinguistic properties of words. In Proceedings of the 2016 conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, ed. K Knight, A Nenkova, O Rambow, pp. 435-40. Stroudsburg, PA: ACL
- Paley A, Tully S, Sharma E. 2018. Too constrained to converse: the effect of financial constraints on word of mouth. 7. Consum. Res. 45(5):889-905
- Park C, Folkman S. 1997. Meaning in the context of stress and coping. Rev. Gen. Psychol. 2:115-44
- Pennebaker J. 1999. The effects of traumatic disclosure on physical and mental health: the values of writing and talking about upsetting events. Int. J. Emerg. Ment. Health 1(1):9-18
- Pennebaker J, Zech E, Rimé B. 2001. Disclosing and sharing emotion: psychological, social, and health consequences. In Handbook of Bereavement Research: Consequences, Coping, and Care, ed. MS Stroebe, RO Hansson, W Stroebe, H Schut, pp. 517-44. Washington, DC: Am. Psychol. Assoc.
- Peters K, Kashima Y. 2007. From social talk to social action: shaping the social triad with emotion sharing. 7. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 93:780-97
- Pennycook G, Rand D. 2022. Accuracy prompts are a replicable and generalizable approach for reducing the spread of misinformation. Nat. Commun. 13:2333
- Peters K, Kashima Y, Clark A. 2009. Talking about others: emotionality and the dissemination of social information. Eur. J. Soc. Psychol. 39:207-22
- Ransbotham S, Lurie NH, Liu H. 2019. Creation and consumption of mobile word of mouth: how are mobile reviews different? Market. Sci. 38(5):773-92
- Rathje S, Bavel J, Linden S. 2021. Out-group animosity drives engagement on social media. PNAS 118(26):e2024292118
- Reis HT, Patrick BC. 1996. Attachment and intimacy: component processes. In Social Psychology: Handbook of Basic Principles, ed. ET Higgins, AW Kruglanski, pp. 523-63. New York: Guilford
- Rettie R. 2009. SMS: exploring the interactional characteristics of near-synchrony. Inf. Commun. Soc. 12(8):1131-48
- Richins M. 1983. Negative word-of-mouth by dissatisfied consumers: a pilot study. J. Market. 47:68-78
- Rimé B. 2007. Interpersonal emotion regulation. In Handbook of Emotion Regulation, ed. JJ Gross, pp. 466-85. New York: Guilford
- Rimé B. 2009. Emotion elicits the social sharing of emotion: theory and empirical review. Emot. Rev. 1:60-85 Rimé B, Finkenauer C, Luminet O, Zech E, Philippot P. 1992. Social sharing of emotion: new evidence and new questions. Eur. Rev. Soc. Psychol. 9:145-89
- Rimé B, Mesquita B, Philippot P, Boca S. 1991. Beyond the emotional event: six studies on the social sharing of emotion. Cogn. Emot. 5:435-65
- Ritson M, Elliott R. 1999. The social uses of advertising: an ethnographic study of adolescent advertising audiences. 7. Consum. Res. 26(3):260-77
- Rosnow R. 1980. Psychology of rumor reconsidered. Psychol. Bull. 87:578-91
- Rosnow RL, Fine GA. 1976. Rumor and Gossip: The Social Psychology of Hearsay. New York: Elsevier
- Sacks H, Schegloff E, Jefferson G. 1974. A simplest systematics for the organization of turn taking for conversation. Language 50:696-735
- Schachter S. 1959. The Psychology of Affiliation. Stanford, CA: Stanford Univ. Press
- Schegloff EA, Sacks H. 1973. Opening up closings. Semiotica 8:289–327
- Shavitt S. 1990. The role of attitude objects in attitude functions. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 26(2):124-48
- Shen H, Sengupta J. 2018. Word of mouth versus word of mouse: speaking about a brand connects you to it more than writing does. 7. Consum. Res. 45(3):595-614

- Short J, Williams E, Christie B. 1976. The Social Psychology of Telecommunications. New York: Wiley
- Siefert C, Kothuri R, Jacobs D, Levine B, Plummer J, Marci C. 2009. Winning the super "buzz" bowl. *J. Advert. Res.* 49(3):293–303
- Sundaram S, Mitra K, Webster C. 1998. Word-of-mouth communications: a motivational analysis. *Adv. Consum. Res.* 25:527–31
- Tannen D. 2005. Conversational Style: Analyzing Talk Among Friends. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Teeny J, Deng X, Unnava R. 2019. The "buzz" behind the buzz matters: energetic and tense arousal as separate motivations for word of mouth. *J. Consum. Psychol.* 30(3):429–46
- Templeton E, Chang L, Reynolds E, LeBeaumont M, Wheatley T. 2022. Fast response times signal social connection in conversation. *PNAS* 119(4):e2116915119
- Tesser A, Paulhus D. 1983. The definition of self: private and public self-evaluation management strategies. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 44(4):672–82
- Tesser A, Rosen S. 1975. The reluctance to transmit bad news. Adv. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 8:193-232
- Tsai J. 2007. Ideal affect: cultural causes and behavioral consequences. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 2:242-59
- Tsai J, Levenson R, McCoy K. 2006. Cultural and temperamental variation in emotional response. *Emotion* 6:484–97
- Tucker J, Mueller J. 2000. Spouses' social control of health behaviors: use and effectiveness of specific strategies. Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 26:1120–30
- Vosoughi S, Roy D, Aral S. 2018. The spread of true and false news online. Science 359(6380):1146-51
- Walther JB. 1996. Computer-mediated communication: impersonal, interpersonal, and hyperpersonal interaction. *Commun. Res.* 23(1):3–43
- Weingarten E, Berger J. 2017. Fired up for the future: how time shapes sharing. *J. Consum. Res.* 44(2):432–47
- Weingarten E, Berger J. 2024. Discussing proximal pasts and far futures. J. Consum. Psychol. 34(1):6-17
- Wetzer I, Zeelenberg M, Pieters R. 2007. Never eat in the restaurant, I did! Exploring why people engage in negative word-of-mouth communication. *Psychol. Market.* 24(8):661–80
- Wojnicki A, Godes D. 2011. Word-of-mouth as self-enhancement. HBS Market. Res. Pap. 06-01, Harvard Bus. Sch., Cambridge, MA
- Wyer RS, Srull TK. 1981. Category accessibility: some theoretical and empirical issues concerning the processing of social stimulus information. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 16(4):348–61
- Zech E. 1999. Is it really helpful to verbalise one's emotions. Gedrag Gezondb. 27:42-47